



**Form 7  
IN THE FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA  
VICTORIA DISTRICT REGISTRY  
GENERAL DIVISION**

**File No. VID4/2010**

**IAN WINTERFORD  
Applicant**

**PFIZER AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED  
ACN 008 422 348  
Respondent**

**REVISED FOURTH AMENDED STATEMENT OF CLAIM  
UNDER PART IVA OF THE *FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA ACT, 1976*  
(Order 4 rule 6 and Order 11)**

***PURSUANT TO ORDERS OF THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE BROMBERG  
MADE ON 1 OCTOBER 2012***

**APPLICANT**

1. The applicant was born on 19 May 1946 and is now aged 66 years.
2. The applicant completed Form 4 in Adelaide and completed a five year apprenticeship in electronics.
3. The applicant has been employed mainly as a salesman selling electrical and sound equipment and servicing it in Australia and New Zealand.
4. In 1998 the applicant suffered a heart attack and has not worked since 1999 being on a disability support pension since.

**Filed by the Applicant**

<b>Name:</b>	Arnold Thomas & Becker		
<b>Address for service:</b>	3rd Floor, 395 Collins Street, Melbourne, Vic, 3000		
<b>DX:</b>	318		
<b>Telephone number:</b>	(03) 9614 1433	<b>Facsimile number:</b>	(03) 9614 6348
<b>Ref:</b>	AG:WINT/IAN210019		

**IN THE FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA (FCA)  
VICTORIA REGISTRY - FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA  
GENERAL DIVISION**

**No: VID4/2010**

**NOTICE OF FILING**

This document was filed electronically in the FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA (FCA) on 3/10/2012.

**DETAILS OF FILING**

**Document Lodged:** Amended Document  
**File Number:** VID4/2010  
**File Title:** Ian Winterford v Pfizer Australia Pty Ltd  
**District Registry:** VICTORIA REGISTRY - FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA



★ **Date:** 3/10/2012

**Registrar**

*David Soden*

**Note**

This Notice forms part of the document and contains information that might otherwise appear elsewhere in the document. The Notice must be included in the document served on each party to the proceeding.

## **THE APPLICANT'S HEALTH**

5. At age 22 the applicant was diagnosed with hypertension and since 1990 has been treated with hypertensives including Cordilox.
6. The applicant suffers ischaemic heart disease being a small myocardial infarction and in October 1995 was investigated with angiography and treated with angioplasty on 12 October 1995.
7. Following his heart attack and divorce from his first wife the applicant suffered depression and anxiety.
8. The applicant has been impotent since 1997 and has been treated with Caverject injections.
9. The applicant contracted gonorrhoea which was treated in February 2005.
10. The applicant has suffered bowel cancer and was treated with right hemicolectomy on 11 March 2010 and is presently in remission.

## **MARRIAGE HISTORY**

11. The applicant was first married in 1968 to Sandra by whom he had a daughter who is now 40 years of age, married and the mother of three children. The applicant divorced Sandra in 1986.
12. The applicant remarried in 2006 to Made and they have subsequently divorced.
13. On 12 January 2012 the applicant married Christiana who he met on the internet. His wife is currently in Indonesia awaiting the outcome of her Visa application.

## **PARKINSON'S DISEASE**

14. In 1999 the applicant was diagnosed as suffering Parkinson's Disease. In December 2003 Dr Robinson prescribed and the Applicant commenced consuming Cabaser (Cabergoline) tablets (the "tablets") at 1mg per day.
15. The applicant was given no or no adequate warning by his treating doctors, pharmacists or health care workers or in the packaging or in the pamphlet that came with the medication as to the effects the drug might have causing him to undertake altered and for him abnormal behaviour of compulsive gambling.

16. The tablets were effective in controlling the applicant's Parkinson's Disease. In approximately January 2004 the applicant increased the dose to 2mg per day to maintain the effectiveness of the drug and by October 2004 the dose was increased to 4mg daily.

**GAMBLING**

17. In early 2004 the applicant started to gamble heavily on poker machines in hotels. The applicant was driven by a need to gamble and felt happy when he did so. Whenever the applicant had money he put it through poker machines.

18. The applicant had a fortnightly pension of about \$400.00 all of which he put through poker machines.

19. The applicant sold real estate, pawned various possessions, borrowed money from friends and drew money from various bank accounts. On the documentation presently available to him the applicant identifies at least the following losses due to gambling:

24/07/2006 – Sale of 4/2 Middle Road, Salsbury North, South Australia, net to applicant	\$45,521.45
11/10/2006 Sale of car	\$829.00
Numerous articles pawned for a total of about	\$6,135.00
Loan from brother Arthur, approximately	\$2,400.00
Loan from James Morcomb	\$1,000.00
Loan from Warren Lane	\$50.00
Drawings from commercial bank MasterCard	\$2,350.00
Drawings from ANZ	\$2,621.40
Drawings from St George Bank	\$25,749.00
Drawings from Bank of South Australia	\$21,003.50
<b>TOTAL</b>	<b>\$107,659.35</b>

Particulars of further loss will be provided when available.

20. The applicant continued gambling in this compulsive manner until October 2010. In about October 2010, the applicant ceased taking the tablets as a result of seeing an article on the internet in relation to these proceedings. Within about a fortnight after ceasing consumption of the tablets the applicant no longer had a compulsion to gamble.

21. The applicant's compulsive gambling was caused by the effect of the dopamine agonist contained in the Cabaser (Cabergoline) that caused a chemical reaction in the applicant's brain that affected the D2 and D3 receptors and was designed to stimulate the central dopaminergic pathways that have close links to the brain's reward system.

21A. The effect on the applicant's behaviour referred to in paragraph 21 was:

(a) to cause abnormal behaviour for him which resulted in loss and damage without constituted personal injury; or

(b) alternatively, constituted personal injury which resulted in abnormal behaviour for him and caused him to suffer loss and damage

22. The effect on the applicant of the Cabaser (Cabergoline) tablets was to cause him to compulsively gamble on poker machines.

23. As a result of his compulsive gambling the applicant lost money.

24. Further, as a result of his compulsive gambling due to the consumption of the tablets the applicant has suffered depression and anxiety.

25. Alternatively, it is alleged the applicant suffered a psychiatric injury being pathological gambling as a result of the consumption of the tablets.

#### **THE APPLICANT'S CLAIM**

26. The applicant claims that his consumption of the tablets caused him to compulsively gamble and thereby suffer loss and damage.

27. Alternatively, the applicant claims that his consumption of the tablets caused him psychiatric injury being pathological gambling
28. Further, as a consequence of his compulsive gambling and its consequences the applicant suffers depression and anxiety.
29. The applicant suffered loss and damage as a result of the consumption of the tablets manufactured and or supplied by the respondent or its predecessors Pharmacia Australia Pty Ltd from 24 October 1996 to 2010 without any or any adequate warning of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions (as defined in paragraph 30(c) hereafter).
- 29A. The Respondent's failure to warn or provide any adequate warning to the applicant and his pharmacists, medical professionals and health care workers caused the Applicant to consume and continue to consume the tablets.
- 29B. Because of the failure to warn or adequately warn the Applicant, his pharmacists, medical professionals and health care workers of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions, the applicant was not made aware that his compulsive gambling was caused by the ingestion of the tablets and so continued to consume the tablets.

### **THE GROUP MEMBERS**

30. The group members to whom this proceeding relates ("the group members") are all persons who:
- (a) were diagnosed with Parkinson's Disease or Restless Legs Syndrome or pituitary gland tumours ("the diagnosed illnesses") and who, between 1996 and 2010 obtained prescriptions for Dopamine agonist tablets known under the trade mark or brand "Cabaser" or "Dostinex" (Cabergoline) (both of which are hereafter referred to as "the tablets") from medical practitioners in Australia to treat the diagnosed illnesses; and
  - (b) used the prescription referred to in (a) supra between 1996 and 2010 to obtain the tablets in Australia and consumed the tablets at any time during that period; and

(c) after commencing to consume and while consuming the tablets referred to in (b) above suffered changed and abnormal behaviour for them being:

- i. compulsive gambling;
- ii. compulsive spending;
- iii. compulsive eating
- iv. hyper-sexuality;
- v. punding (meaning a compulsive fascination with and performance of repetitive, mechanical tasks);
- vi. a combination of the behaviours referred to at (i) – (v) supra (“the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions”)

(d) suffered loss and/or damage as a result of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.

31. At the time of commencement of this proceeding there are more than seven group members.

### **The Group Members Claim**

32. The group members claim compensation for losses suffered as a result of changed and abnormal behaviour for them being:

- i. compulsive gambling;
- ii. compulsive spending;
- iii. compulsive eating
- iv. hyper-sexuality;
- v. punding (meaning a compulsive fascination with and performance of repetitive, mechanical tasks);
- vi. a combination of the behaviours referred to at (i) – (v) supra (“the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions”)

33. (a) Each group member was diagnosed with one of the diagnosed illnesses and between 1996 and 2010 was given prescriptions for the tablets.
- (b) used the prescriptions referred to in (a) supra between 1996 and 2010 to obtain the tablets in Australia;
- (c) consumed and continued to consume the tablets at any time during that period;
- (d) was not given any or any adequate warning of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;
- (e) suffered changed behaviour which was abnormal for them while consuming the tablets and which was one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;
- (f) would have avoided the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions or their consequences if he or she or his or her pharmacists, medical professionals and health care workers had been warned or adequately warned of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions
- (g) suffered losses as a result of suffering from one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions

33A As a result of the failure of the Respondent, to warn or adequately warn the group members and the group members pharmacists, medical professionals and health care workers, the group members each suffered loss and / or damage and / or psychiatric injury as a result of one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.

33B As a result of the failure of the Respondent, to warn or adequately warn, the group members and the group members pharmacists, medical professionals and health care workers, the group members were not made aware that their Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions were caused by the ingestion of the tablets and so continued to consume the tablets

33C. The Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions suffered by each group member were caused by the effect of the dopamine agonist contained in the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) that caused a chemical reaction in the brain that affected the D2 and D3 receptors and was designed to stimulate the central dopaminergic pathways that have close links to the brains reward system



33D. The effect on each group members brain referred to in paragraph 33C was:

- (a) to cause abnormal behaviour for them which resulted in loss and damage without constituted personal injury; or
- (b) alternatively, constituted personal injury which resulted in abnormal behaviour for him or her and caused him or her to suffer loss and damage; or
- (c) alternatively, caused the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions which constitute psychiatric injury

#### **THE RESPONDENTS**

- 34. From 24 October 1996 to 23 April 2004 (the "first period") the tablets were manufactured, distributed and supplied by Pharmacia Australia Pty Ltd ("Pharmacia").
- 35. On 23 April 2004 Pharmacia Australia Pty Ltd entered into a merger agreement with the respondent whereby the respondent assumed all liabilities of Pharmacia Australia Pty Ltd.
- 36. On 23 April 2004 Pharmacia Australia Pty Ltd ceased trading and has since been deregistered
- 36A. From 24 April 2004 to 2010 (the "second period") the tablets were manufactured, distributed and supplied by the Respondent
- 37. At all material times Pharmacia and the respondent are and were companies owned and controlled by Pfizer Inc.
- 38. In the circumstances the respondent is liable to the applicant and group members as manufacturer, distributor and supplier from 24 October 1996 to 2010.
- 39. The respondent is and was at all relevant times:
  - (a) a company incorporated pursuant to the law and capable of being sued.
  - (b) a trading corporation pursuant to the Trade Practices Act, 1974 (Cth);
  - (c) liable as the manufacturer, distributor and supplier of the tablets.

(d) engaged in trade and commerce

## LIABILITY IN NEGLIGENCE

### DUTY OF CARE

40. During the second period ~~At all material times~~ the respondent and during the first period ~~and / or~~ Pharmacia manufactured, marketed and distributed prescription drugs and had a duty to identify the effects of the drugs it marketed and distributed and to give adequate and timely warnings to pharmacists, medical professionals and health care workers and users of the drugs of the risk of side effects from consumption of the drugs.
41. ~~At all relevant times~~ During the second period the respondent and during the first period ~~or~~ Pharmacia:
- (a) manufactured;
  - (b) packaged and labelled;
  - (c) marketed;
  - (d) distributed and / or;
  - (e) supplied
- the tablets in Australia.
42. ~~At all relevant times~~ During the second period the respondent and during the first period ~~/ or~~ Pharmacia knew or ought to have known that the consumption of the tablets carried the risk of the consumer suffering one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.
43. ~~At all relevant times~~ During the second period the respondent and during the first period ~~/ or~~ Pharmacia had a duty to warn pharmacists, medical professionals, health care workers and consumers of the tablets of the risk of suffering one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions as a result of consuming the tablets.

## PARTICULARS OF KNOWLEDGE

44. The Respondent and / or Pharmacia knew or ought to have known that consumption of the tablets would cause some consumers to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions as a result of:

- (a) Research and investigation undertaken by it, or of which it was aware, into the side effects from consumption of the tablets at various dosages.

### **Particulars**

(i) The applicant cannot provide particulars under this heading until completion of discovery by the respondent and will provide them following discovery

- (b) Results of clinical and other trials undertaken by it, or of which it was aware, into the side effects from consumption of the tablets at various dosages.

### **Particulars**

(i) The applicant cannot provide particulars under this heading until completion of discovery by the respondent and will provide them following discovery

- (c) Research and scientific papers showing that dopamine agonists were a cause of conditions such as the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions and/or psychiatric injury

### **Particulars**

Research and general scientific papers currently known to the applicant are listed in Schedule 1 annexed hereto. Further particulars will be provided when information is available following discovery.

- (d) Participation in and general knowledge of various court cases

### **Particulars**

*Schick v Boehringer Ingelheim (Canada) Ltd., Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals Inc and Pfizer Inc 2011 ONSC Court File: 05-CV-288851CP*

*Lepine v Boehringer Ingelheim (Canada) Ltd, Quebec Superior Court Number 500-06-000463-097*

*Banerjee v Shire Biochem, Draxis Health, Eli Lilly Canada Inc and Eli Lilly & Company, Ontario Superior Court of Justice Court Number 05-CV-293457*

*Mirapex Products Liability Litigation United State District Court - District of Minnesota MDL 07 - 1836 "All actions" and related actions including:*

*Gazal v Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Pfizer Inc, Pharmacia Corporation and Pharmacia & Upjohn LLC*

*Hudson v Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Pfizer Inc, Pharmacia Corporation and Pharmacia & Upjohn LLC*

*Charbonneau v Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Pfizer Inc, Pharmacia Corporation and Pharmacia & Upjohn LLC*

#### **Breach of duty**

45. Negligently and in breach of its duty to warn in the second period the ~~their duty to warn~~ the respondent and in the first period ~~of~~ Pharmacia failed to give any or any adequate warnings to medical professionals, pharmacists, health care workers, the applicant and group members of risk of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.
46. As a result of the absence of any or any adequate warning the consumers continued to consume the tablets and continued to suffer the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.

#### **PARTICULARS OF NEGLIGENCE**

47. During the second period the respondent and during the first period ~~of~~ Pharmacia were negligent in that they:
  - (a) failed to undertake or cause to be undertaken any or any adequate research or investigation to obtain knowledge into possible side effects from consumption of dopamine agonists and the tablets at various dosages;

- (b) failed to undertake or cause to be undertaken any or any adequate trials or clinical trials to obtain knowledge into possible side effects from the consumption of dopamine agonists and the tablets at various dosages;
- (c) failed to have regard or sufficient regard to research, investigation or clinical trials undertaken by others to obtain knowledge into the side effects of the consumption of dopamine agonists and the tablets at various dosages;
- (d) failed to include any or any adequate information, advice or warning on packets or in the packaging of the tablets to inform consumers that the consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;
- (e) failed to include any or any adequate information, advice or warning in the packaging of or product information or consumer medicine information relating to the tablets, to inform consumers that consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;
- (f) failed to provide pharmacists, medical practitioners and other health professionals with any or any adequate information, advice or warning that consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;
- (g) failed to include any or any adequate information, advice or warning on packets of the tablets informing consumers that consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions after it became so aware;
- (h) failed to include any or any adequate information, advice or warning in the packaging of the tablets informing consumers that consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions after it became so aware;
- (i) failed to provide pharmacists, medical practitioners and other health professionals with any or any adequate information, advice or warning that consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions after it became so aware.

48. As a result of the respondent's ~~and Pharmacia's~~ negligence during the second period and Pharmacia's negligence in the first period, the applicant:
- (a) was prescribed the tablets by medical practitioners in Australia;
  - (b) obtained the tablets from a pharmacist in Australia;
  - (c) consumed the tablets pursuant to the instructions on the relevant prescription;
  - (d) suffered one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions being compulsive gambling; and
  - (e) experienced pain and suffering and suffered loss and damage and / or injury as pleaded in paragraphs 17 to 25.
49. As a result of the respondent's negligence in the second period and Pharmacia's negligence in the first period, the group members ~~from~~ between 1996 to 2010:
- (a) were prescribed the tablets by medical practitioners in Australia;
  - (b) obtained the tablets from a pharmacist in Australia;
  - (c) consumed and continued to consume the tablets pursuant to the instructions on the relevant prescription;
  - (d) suffered one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions; and
  - (e) experienced pain and suffering and suffered loss and damage and / or injury, particulars of which will be provided prior to consideration of their individual claims.

#### **SECTION 52 OF THE TRADE PRACTICES ACT (CTH)**

50. Further and in the alternative, during the second period the respondent and in first period Pharmacia in trade and commerce engaged in conduct that was misleading or deceptive or likely to mislead or deceive in that it:

- (a) packaged and distributed the tablets to pharmacists, medical professionals and health care workers without any or any adequate warning as to the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions; and
- (b) distributed Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) "product information" without any or any adequate warning as to the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.
- (c) failed to include any or any adequate information, advice or warning on packets or in the packaging of the tablets to inform consumers that the consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;
- (d) failed to include any or any adequate information, advice or warning in the packaging of or product information or consumer medicine information relating to the tablets, to inform consumers that consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;

50A. During second period the respondent's and during the first period Pharmacia's failure to warn or provide any adequate warning of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions, constituted a representation that the tablets were safe to use without causing the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.

51. The respondent's in the second period and Pharmacia's in the first period failure to warn or provide any adequate warning as alleged of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions misled and deceived:

- (a) pharmacists, medical professionals and healthcare workers responsible for the supply, prescribing and administering the tablets;
- (b) the applicant and group members who consumed the tablets.

52. The Applicant and group members relied on the respondent in the second period and Pharmacia in the first period to warn or adequately warn of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions and so consumed and continued consuming the tablets, due to the absence of warning or adequate warnings.

53. The Applicant and the group members suffered loss and damage as a result of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions

#### SECTION 74B TRADE PRACTICES ACT

54. Further and in the alternative, ~~at all relevant times~~ during the second period the respondent and during the first period ~~of~~ Pharmacia:

- (a) Marketed;
- (b) distributed,;
- (c) supplied;
- (d) packaged and labelled and provided product information and / or consumer medicine information for;

the tablets in Australia and for the purposes of section 74B of the Act the respondent or Pharmacia is deemed, pursuant to section 74A of the Act, to have manufactured the tablets.

55. During the second period the respondent ~~or~~ and during the first period Pharmacia supplied the tablets to pharmacists and medical practitioners in Australia (“the intermediate suppliers”) in trade and commerce.

56. Each intermediate supplier acquired the tablets from the respondent or Pharmacia for re-supply.

57. One or more of the intermediate suppliers supplied the applicant and each group member with the tablets which they consumed.

58. The applicant and the group members were consumers and acquired the tablets consumed by them to treat the diagnosed illnesses (“the purpose of acquisition”).

59. The applicant and each group member ~~directly or indirectly~~ and by implication made known to the respondent in the second period and Pharmacia in the first period through the intermediate supplier or suppliers the purpose for which each had acquired the tablets for them, being treatment of one of the diagnosed illnesses without suffering the avoidable side effects and in particular the Cabaser and Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.



60. The tablets consumed by the applicant and each group member were not reasonably fit for the purpose of acquisition in that they did not provide warning or any adequate warning of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions on the labelling, packing and product information and / or consumer medicine information pursuant to section 74B of the Act .

## **PARTICULARS**

- (a) The consumption of the tablets caused the applicant and each group member to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.
61. As a result of the tablets consumed by the applicant and each of the group members not being reasonably fit for the purpose of acquisition the applicant and each group member suffered one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions and thereby suffered loss and damage.
62. Pursuant to section 74B of the Act, the respondent is liable to compensate the applicant and each group member for the amount of the loss and damage suffered by them as a result of having suffered one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.

## **SECTION 74D TRADE PRACTICES ACT**

63. Further and in the alternative, ~~at all relevant times~~ the respondent in the second period and ~~or~~ Pharmacia in the first period:
- (a) Marketed;
- (b) distributed,;
- (c) supplied;
- (d) packaged and labelled and provided product information and / or consumer medicine information for;

the tablets in Australia and for the purposes of section 74D of the Act the respondent or Pharmacia is deemed, pursuant to section 74A of the Act, to have manufactured the tablets.

64. During the second period the respondent and during the first period Pharmacia supplied the tablets consumed by the applicant and group members to the intermediate suppliers, in trade and commerce.
65. Each intermediate supplier acquired the tablets consumed by the applicant and group members from the respondent or Pharmacia for re-supply.
66. One or more of the intermediate suppliers supplied the applicant and each group member as a consumer with the tablets which they consumed.
67. The tablets consumed by the applicant and each group member were not of merchantable quality in that they did not provide warning or any adequate warning on the labelling, packaging and product information and / or consumer medicine information relating to the tablets of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions within the meaning of section 74D of the Act.

#### **PARTICULARS**

- (a) Consumption of the tablets caused the applicant and each group member to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions and the tablets were not thereby fit for the purpose for which they were bought as it is reasonable to expect in all the relevant circumstances.
  - (b) during the second period the respondent and during the first period Pharmacia failed to include any or any adequate information, advice or warning on packets or in the packaging of the tablets to inform consumers that the consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;
  - (c) during the second period the respondent and during the first period Pharmacia failed to include any or any adequate information, advice or warning in the packaging of or product information or consumer medicine information relating to the tablets, to inform consumers that consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;
68. As a result of the tablets consumed by the applicant and each group member not being of merchantable quality, the applicant and each group member suffered one or more

of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions and thereby suffered loss and damage.

69. Pursuant to section 74D of the Act, the respondent is liable to compensate the applicant and each group member for the amount of loss and damage suffered by them as a result of having suffered one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions and each group member is entitled to recover compensation by this action against the respondent.

#### **SECTION 75AD TRADE PRACTICES ACT**

70. Further and in the alternative ~~at all relevant times~~ during the second period the respondent and ~~for~~ during the first period Pharmacia supplied goods being the tablets manufactured by it that had a defect because of which the applicant and group members suffered injuries, loss and damage.
71. The tablets had a “defect” as defined by section 75AC of the Trade Practices Act in that:
- (a) They caused consumers one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;
  - (b) They did not carry a warning that they caused the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions
  - (c) during the second period the respondent and during the first period Pharmacia failed to include any or any adequate information, advice or warning on packets or in the packaging of the tablets to inform consumers that the consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;
  - (d) during the second period the respondent and during the first period Pharmacia failed to include any or any adequate information, advice or warning in the packaging of or product information or consumer medicine information relating to the tablets, to inform consumers that consumption of the tablets may cause the consumer to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions;

## PARTICULARS

- (i) The tablets were defective in that their safety was not such as persons generally were entitled to expect (section 75AC(1).
- (ii) ~~The relevant circumstances under section 75AC(2) include:~~
  - (a) ~~The manner in which, and the purposes for which, the tablets have been marketed; and~~
  - (b) ~~Their packaging; and~~
  - (c) ~~Any instructions for, or warnings with respect to, doing, or refraining from doing, anything with or in relation to them; and~~
  - (d) ~~What might reasonably be expected to be done with or in relation to them.~~

72. As a result of the defect:

- (a) Consumption of the tablets caused the applicant and group members to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions.
- (b) There was no or no adequate warning on the packaging that consumption of the tablets would cause one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions

73. Pursuant to section 75AD of the Act, the respondents ~~is~~ are liable to compensate the applicant and each group member for the amount of loss and damage suffered by them as a result of having suffered one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions and the applicant and each group member is entitled to recover compensation by this action from the respondent.

## COMMON QUESTIONS OF LAW AND FACT

74. The questions of fact or law common to the claims of the applicant and group members are as follows:

- (a) ~~Between 1996 and 2010 (“all relevant times”) did the respondent and / or Pharmacia:~~

I. During the first period did Pharmacia:

II. During the second period did the respondent:

III. Between 1996 and 2010 did the respondent and / or Pharmacia:

- i. Manufacture the tablets?
- ii. Package and label the tablets?
- iii. Market the tablets in Australia?
- iv. Distribute or supply the tablets for sale in Australia?

(b) ~~At all relevant times~~

I. During the second period:

II. During the first period:

III. Between 1996 and 2010:

did the consumption of the tablets cause some consumers to suffer from one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions?

(c) ~~Did the respondent or Pharmacia~~

I. During second period did the respondent:

II. During first period did Pharmacia:

know or ought they have known that the consumption of the tablets could cause consumers to suffer one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions?

(d) Is suffering one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions non economic loss?

(e) Is suffering one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions personal injury or the result of personal injury?

(f) Are the economic losses from behaviour being one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions recoverable?

(g) ~~At all relevant times did the respondent and Pharmacia~~

I. During the second period did the respondent:

II. During the first period did Pharmacia

owe each group member a duty in:

- (i) manufacturing,
- (ii) packaging and labelling,
- (iii) marketing,
- (iv) distributing,
- (v) or supplying for sale

the tablets, to take reasonable care to warn adequately each of them and their medical practitioners, pharmacists and health care workers of the risk of suffering one or more of the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions, as a result of consuming the tablets?

(h) ~~Was the respondent or Pharmacia~~

I. During the second period was the respondent:

II. During the first period was Pharmacia:

in breach of their duty to warn that the consumption of the tablets could cause the Cabaser or Dostinex (Cabergoline) conditions, or any of them?

(i) ~~Was the respondent or Pharmacia~~

I. During the second period was the respondent:

II. During the first period was Pharmacia:

in breach of sections 52, 74B, 74D or 75AD of the Trades Practices Act in the manufacture, packaging, labelling, marketing, distribution and / or supply for sale of the tablets??

(j) ~~Did the respondent~~

I. During the second period did the respondent:

II. During the first period did Pharmacia:

cause or permit its name or brand or mark to be applied to the packets of the tablets acquired by each of the group members?

(k) ~~Did the respondent~~

I. During the second period was the respondent:

II. During the first period was Pharmacia:

supply the packets of tablets obtained by the applicant and each of the group members to pharmacists or medical practitioners?

#### **THE APPLICANT AND GROUP MEMBERS CLAIM**

1. Non economic loss.
2. Economic loss
3. Damages to be assessed.
4. Interest.
5. Costs.
6. The applicant claims the relief specified in the application.

Date: ~~25 September 2012~~ 3 October 2012

IN THE FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA  
DISTRICT REGISTRY: VICTORIA  
DIVISION: GENERAL  
VID004/2010

IAN WINTERFORD  
Applicant  
and  
PFIZER AUSTRALIA PTY LTD  
Respondent

Schedule 1

1. Dated 22 December 1975, "**Adverse Drug Reactions**", *Karch, Fred E, Lasagna, L*, JAMA, Vol 234, No 12
2. Dated December 1984, "**Profile of the Pathological Gambler**", *Custer, Robert L, J* Clin Psychiatry 45:12 (SEC.2)
3. Dated 1987, "**Bromocriptine induced impotence in Parkinson's disease**", *Cleeves & Findley*, British Medical Journal.
4. Dated 1989, "**Hypersexuality with Antiparkinsonian Therapy**", *Ryan J. Uitti*, Raven Press Ltd, New York.
5. Dated 1994, "**Reversal of stress-induced anhedonia by the dopamine receptor agonist, pramipexole**", *Wilner, P, Lappas, S, Cheeta S, Muscat, R*, Psychopharmacology (1994) 115
6. Dated 1997, "**Altered dopamine function in pathological gambling**", *Berg C., Eklund T.*, Psycho Med Journal
7. Dated 1997, "**Psychiatric and Sexual Disorders Induced by Apomorphine in Parkinson's Disease**", *Courty, E, Durif F, Zenut M, Court P, Lavarenne J*, Clinical Neuropharmacology, Vol 20, No. 2, 140-147
8. Dated 7 July 1997, "**D<sub>3</sub> receptor test *in vitro* predicts decreased cocaine self-administration in rats**", *Barak Caine, S, Koob, G F, Parsons, L, Everitt, B J, Schwartz, J-C, Sokoloff, P*, Neuropharmacology and Neurotoxicology, NeuroReport 8, 2373-2377 (1997) Vol 8 No 9-10
9. Dated July 1997, "**Clinical evaluation of pramipexole in advanced Parkinson's disease: Results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study**", *Lieberman A, Ranhosky A & Korts D*, Neurology, Vol 49, Issue 1



10. Dated January 29 1998, "**Clinical/Scientific Notes**", *Hubert H. Fernandez & Raymon Durso*, Movement Disorder Society, Vol. 13 No. 3 1998, 597-621
11. Dated July 1998, "**Predictive reward signal of dopamine neurons**", *W. Schultz, J Neurophysiol - Institute of Physiology, University of Fribourg Switzerland.*, Vol 80. No. 1
12. Dated 1999, "**Pramipexole - a new dopamine agonist for the treatment of Parkinson's disease**", *Bennett JP, Piercey, M F*, Elsevier Journal of the Neurological Sciences 163 (1999)
13. Dated 1999, "**Distribution of Dopamine D<sub>3</sub> Receptor Expressing Neurons in the Human Forebrain: Comparison with D<sub>2</sub> Receptor Expressing Neurons**", *Gurevich, E V & Joyce, J N*, Elsevier, Neuropsychopharmacology 1999 Vol 20, No. 1
14. Dated 24 August 1999, "**Hedonistic homeostatic dysregulation in patients with Parkinson's disease on dopamine replacement therapies**", *G. Giovannoni, J. D. O'Sullivan, K. Turner, A. J. Manson & A. J. L. Lees*, J. Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry; 68
15. Dated 24 February 2000, "**Pathological Gambling Behaviour: Emergence Secondary to treatment of Parkinson's Disease with Dopaminergic agents**", *Soraya Seedat et al*, Depression & Anxiety 11 - Wiley-Liss Inc.
16. Dated 15 March 2000, "**Pathologic gambling in Parkinson's Disease: A Behavioral Manifestation of Pharmacologic Treatment?**", *Jose Antonio Molina*, Movement Disorders, Movement Disorder Society, Vol 15 No.
17. Dated September 2000, "**Pathological Gambling**", *Hollander, E, Buchalter, A J, DeCaria, C M*, The Psychiatric Clinics of North America, Vol 23 No. 3
18. Dated 2001, "**Applying Bradford Hill's Criteria for Causation to Neuropsychiatry: Challenges and Opportunities**", *Van Reekum, R, Streiner, D L, Conn D K*, J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 13:3 Summer 2001
19. Dated 2001, "**Cabergoline for levodopa-induced complications in Parkinson's disease**", *Clarke CE, Deane KH*, Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2001:CD001518
20. Dated 2001, "**Pathologic gambling in patients with Parkinson's disease**", *Gschwandtner U.*, Clinic Neuropharmacol.
21. Dated 2 August 2001, "**Penile erections and hypersexuality induced by pergolide treatment in advanced, fluctuating Parkinson's disease**", *Petr Kanovsky, Martin Bares, Michal Pohanka, Ivan Rektor*, J Neurol (2002) 249

22. Dated 22 September 2001, "**New developments impulsivity**", *Hollander E, Evers M*, *The Lancet*, Vol 358 September 22, 2001
23. Dated 2002, "**Pathologic Gambling and Impulse Control Disorders**", *Potenza, M N, Hollander, E*, *Neuropsychopharmacology: The Fifth Generation of Progress*
24. Dated 12 March 2002, "**Cabergoline can increase penile erection and libido**", *Wittstock, Matthias, Benecke, Reiner, Dressler & Dirk*, *Wolter Kluwer Health - Neurology*.
25. Dated 15 May 2002, "**Chronic dopamimetic drug addiction and pathologic gambling in patients with Parkinson's disease - Presentation of four cases**", *Marcos Serrano-Duenas*, *German Journal of Psychiatry*.
26. Dated July/August 2002, "**Possible Zoophilia associated with dopaminergic therapy in Parkinson's Disease**", *Felix Javier Jimenez-Jimenez*, *The Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, Vol. 36.
27. Dated September 2002, "**Gambling An Additive Behavior with Health and Primary Care Implications**", *Potenza, M N, Fiellin, D A, Heinger, G R, Rounsaville, Mazure C M*, *J Gen Intern Med* 2002:17
28. Dated 2003, "**D2 Dopamine Receptor Gene in Psychiatric and Neurologic Disorders and its Phenotypes**", *Ernest P. Noble*, *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B*.
29. Dated 2003, "**L-Dopa medication remediates cognitive inflexibility, but increases impulsivity in patients with Parkinson's disease**", *Cools, R, Barker, R A, Sahakian, B J, Robbins, T W*, *Pergamon, Neuropsychologia* 41 (2003)
30. Dated June 2003, "**Cabergoline is an Effective Single-drug Treatment for Restless Legs Syndrome: Clinical and Actigraphic Evaluation**", *Zucconi M, Oldani A, Castronovo C, Ferini-Strambi L*, *Sleep*, Vol 26, No. 7, 200, 815-818
31. Dated August 2003, "**Pathological gambling associated with dopamine agonist therapy in Parkinson's disease**", *E. Driver-Dunckley*, *Neurology* Vol. 61.
32. Dated September 2003, "**Is gambling a risk for patients with Parkinson's disease?**", *Colby Stong*, *Neurologyreviews.com*, Vol. 11, No.9.
33. Dated 14 November 2003, "**Static balance impairment and its change after pallidotomy in Parkinson's disease**", *Naok Hagiwara*, *Movement Disorders*, Vol. 19 No. 4 (2004).

34. Dated 19 November 2003, "**Wireless Real-Time electronic data capture for self-assessment of motor function and quality of life in Parkinson's disease**", *Dag Nyholm*, *Movement Disorders*, Vol. 19 No. 4 (2004).
35. Dated 19 November 2003, "**Complex Mechanisms of sensory tricks in cervical dystonia**", *Axel Schramm*, *Movement Disorders*, Vol. 19 No. 4 (2004).
36. Dated 19 November 2003, "**Is the rhythm of physiological tremor involved in cortico interactions?**", *Jan Raethjen*, *Movement Disorders*, Vol. 19 No. 4 (2004).
37. Dated 2004, "**Sexual dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease**", *Bronner G.*, *Journal of Sex and Marital Therapy*.
38. Dated 2004, "**Long-term Safety and Efficacy of Cabergoline for the Treatment of Idiopathic Restless Legs Syndrome: Results from an Open-Label 6-Month Clinical Trial**", *Benes, H Heinrich CR, Ueberall MA, Kohnen R*, *Sleep* 2004 Vol 27, No. 4: 674-682
39. Dated 2004, "**The Long-acting Dopamine Receptor Agonist Cabergoline in Early Parkinson's Disease: Final Results of a 5-Year, Double-Blind, Levodopa-Controlled Study**", *Bracco, F, Battaglia A, Chouza C et al*, *CNS Drugs* 2004; 18 (11): 733-746
40. Dated 2004, "**Disabling Repetitive Behaviors in Parkinson's Disease**", *Kurlan R*, *Movement Disorders* Vol. 19, No. 4, 2004, 433-437
41. Dated 12 February 2004, "**Efficacy of pergolide in treatment of restless legs syndrome**", *American Academy of Neurology* ([www.neurology.org](http://www.neurology.org)).
42. Dated 17 February 2004, "**Repetition, Repetition, and Repetition: Compulsive and punning behaviors in Parkinson's disease**", *Valerie Voon*, *Movement Disorders*, Vol. 19 No. 4 (2004).
43. Dated 20 February 2004, "**Atypical Parkinsonism and Motor Neuron Syndrome in a Biosphere 2 Participant: A Possible complication of Chronic Hypoxia and Carbon Monoxide Toxicity?**", *Brian K. Lassinger*, *Movement Disorder*, Vol. 19 No. 4 (2004).
44. Dated 22 February 2004, "**Pathological gambling in two patients on dopamine replacement therapy for Parkinson's disease**", *M. Avanzi*, *Neurol Sci* (2004), 25
45. Dated April 2004, "**Dopamine transmission in the Human Striatum during Monetary Reward Tasks**", *Zald D.*, *Journal Neuroscience*.

46. Dated 11 June 2004, "**Switching From Ergot to Nonergot Dopamine Agonists in Parkinson's Disease: A Clinical Series and Five-Drug Dose Conversion Table**", Grosset K, Needleman F, Macphee G & Grosset D, *Movement Disorders*, Vol 19, No. 11 (2004)
47. Dated 29 July 2004, "**Is there a relationship between Parkinson's disease and obsessive-compulsive disorder?**", *Vijaykumar Harbishettar*, [www.Elsevier.com](http://www.Elsevier.com).
48. Dated 16 August 2004, "**Prevalence and clinical features of hedonistic homeostatic Dysregulation in Parkinson's disease**", *Francesca Romana Pezzella*, *Movement Disorders*, Vol. 20 No. 1 (2005).
49. Dated December 2004, "**Effective cabergoline treatment in idiopathic restless legs syndrome**", *Stiasny-Kolster K, Benes H, Peggau I et al*, *Neurology* 2004, 63, 2272-2279
50. Dated 2005, "**Sudden Uncontrollable Somnolence and Medication Use in Parkinson Disease**", *Jerry Avorn*, *Arch Neurol* (2005) 62
51. Dated 2005, "**Reliability and Validity of the Pathological Gambling Adaptation of the Yale-Brown Obsessive-Compulsive Scale (PG-YBOCS)**" *Pallanti, S, DeCaria, C, Great, J E, Urpe, M, Hollander, E*, *Journal of Gambling Studies*, Vol 21, No. 4, Winter 2005
52. Dated 2005, "**Efficacy screening trials of paroxetine, pentoxifylline, riluzole, pramipexole and venlafaxine in cocaine dependence**", *Ciraulo, D A, Saric-Segal, O, Knapp, C M et al*, Research report, 2005 Society for the Study of Addiction, *Addiction*, 100, (Suppl 1)12-22
53. Dated 2005, "**The role of dopamine in human addiction: From reward to motivated attention**", *Franken, Ingmar H A, Booij, J, van den Brink, W*, Elsevier, *European Journal of Pharmacology* 526 (2005)
54. Dated 2005, "**Imaging monetary reward in pathological gamblers**", *Hollander, E, Pallanti, S, Rossi, N et al*, *The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry*, 2005; 6(2)
55. Dated 16 June 2005, "**Pathological hypersexuality predominantly linked to adjuvant dopamine agonist therapy in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy**", *Kevin J. Klos*, [www.elsevier.com](http://www.elsevier.com).
56. Dated 1 August 2005, "**Factors influencing susceptibility to compulsive dopaminergic drug use in Parkinson's disease**", *A. H. Evans*, AAN Enterprises.
57. Dated August 2005, "**Pergolide and pathologic gambling**", *Lareb - Nederlands Bijwerkingen Centrum*.

58. Dated 9 September 2005, "**Pathological gambling caused by drugs used to treat Parkinson's disease**", *M. Leann Dodd et al*, Archives of Neurology Vol. 62 No. 9.
59. Dated December 2005, "**Forebrain Substrates of Reward and Motivation**", *Roy A. Wise*, The Journal of Comparative Neurology, 493
60. Dated 2006, "**Role of brain dopamine in food reward and reinforcement**", *Roy A. Wise*, Royal Society Publishing ([www.jstor.org](http://www.jstor.org)).
61. Dated 2006, "**Treatment of Japanese Restless Legs Syndrome Patients with Cabergoline: An Open Clinical Preliminary Trial**", *Aizawa H, Aburakawa Y, Suzuki Y et al*, Internal Medicine 2006; 45: 453-455
62. Dated 21 January 2006, "**Hypersexuality and paraphilia induced by selegiline in Parkinson's disease: Report of 2 cases**", *Michael A. Shapiro*, [www.elsevier.com](http://www.elsevier.com).
63. Dated February 2006, "**Natural Recovery and Treatment-Seeking in Pathological Gambling: Results of Two U.S. National Surveys**", *Slutske, W S*, Am J Psychiatry 163:2
64. Dated 2006, "**Letters to the Editor: Dopamine Agonist-Induced Pathological Gambling in Restless Leg Syndrome Due to Multiple Sclerosis**", *Andrew H. Evans*, Movement Disorders
65. Dated 2006, "**Parkinson's Disease: Background, Diagnosis and Initial Management**", *Albin, R L*, Elsevier Saunders, Clinics in Geriatric Medicine, Clin Geriatr Med 22 (2006) 735-751
66. Dated 2006, "**Prevalence of Pathological Gambling in Patients with Parkinson's Disease**", *Avanzi, M, Baratta, M, Cabrini, S et al*, Movement Disorders, Vol 21, No. 12
67. Dated 2006, "**Reversal learning in Parkinson's disease depends on medication status and outcome valence**", *Cools, R, Altamirano, L, D'Esposito, M*, Elsevier, Neuropsychologia 44 (2006)
68. Dated 2006, "**Clinical features associated with impulse control disorders in Parkinson disease**", *Pontone, G, Williams, J R, Bassett, S S, Marsh, L*, Neurology 67, October (1 of 2) 2006
69. Dated 2006, "**The Dopamine D<sub>3</sub> Receptor: A Therapeutic Target for the Treatment of Neuropsychiatric Disorders**", *Sokoloff P, Diaz, J et al*, CNS & Neurological Disorders: Drug Targets 2006 Vol 5, No. 1

70. Dated September 2006, "**Efficacy of cabergoline in restless legs syndrome: A placebo-controlled study with polysomnography (CATOR)**", *Oertel WH, Benes H, Bodenschatz R et al*, *Neurology* 2006, 67, 1040-1046
71. Dated 24 March 2006, "**Parkinson's Disease treatment show risk for developing gambling problems**", *Robin Stinnett*, *American Academy of Neurology*.
72. Dated 24 April 2006, "**Punding and Computer Addiction in Parkinson's Disease**", *Alfonso Fasano*, *Movement Disorder*, Vol. 21 No. 8
73. Dated 2006, "**Prospective prevalence of pathologic gambling and medication association in Parkinson disease**", *Voon, V, Hassan, K, Zurowski, M et al*, *Neurology*, 2006 66 June (1 of 2) 2006
74. Dated July 2006, "**Dopamine Agonist use is associated with impulse disorders in Parkinson's disease**", *NIH Public Access*.
75. Dated July 2006, "**Medications for Pituitary Tumour**", *Dr. Stephen Thornley*, *Australia Pituitary Foundation*.
76. Dated July 2006, "**Pathological Gambling and Other Impulse Control Disorders in Parkinson's**", *Weintraub, D, Potenza, M*, *Practical Neurology*
77. Dated July 2006, "**Association of dopamine Agonist Use With Impulse control Disorders in Parkinson Disease**", *Weintraub, D, Siderowf, A D, Potenza, M N, et al*, (reprinted) *Arch Neurology*, Vol 65
78. Dated 29 September 2006, "**Problematic gambling on dopamine agonists: Not such a rarity**", *Katherine A. Grosset*, *Movement Disorder* Vol. 21 No. 12.
79. Dated October 2006, "**Prevalence of repetitive and reward-seeking behaviors in Parkinson disease**", *Voon, V, Hassan, K, Zurowski, M et al*, *Neurology*, 67 October (1 of 2) 2006
80. Dated 16 October 2006, "**Prevalence of Pathological Gambling in Patients with Parkinson's Disease**", *Maurizio Avanzi et al*, *Movement Disorders* Vol 21 No. 12
81. Dated 2007, "**Northwestern finds drug that rejuvenates & protects neurons in animals models or Parkinson's disease**", *Tanya Simuni*, *Northwestern University's Feinberg School of Medicine*.
82. Dated 2007, "**Senyei translational research award supports James Surmeier's work to "rejuvenate" dopaminergic neurons**", *Michael Nyquist*, *Northwestern University*.

83. Dated 2007, "**A D2 Antagonist Enhances the Rewarding and Priming Effects of a Gambling Episode in Pathological Gamblers**", *Zack, M, Poulos, C X*, *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2007) 32
84. Dated 2007, "**Controlled Study of Decision-Making and Cognitive Impairment in Parkinson's Disease**", *Pagonabarraga, J, Garcia-Sanchez, C et al*, *Movement Disorders*, Vol 22, No. 10
85. Dated 2007, "**Unusual compulsive behaviors primarily related to dopamine agonist therapy in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy**", *McKeon, A, Josephs, K, Klos K J et al*, Elsevier, *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders*, Article in Press, [www.elsevier.com/locate/parkreldis](http://www.elsevier.com/locate/parkreldis)
86. Dated 2007, "**Medication-related impulse control and repetitive behaviors in Parkinson's disease**", *Voon, V, Potenza, M N, Thomsen, T*, *Neurology*, 20
87. Dated 2007, "**Cabergoline Compared to Levodopa in the Treatment of Patients with Severe Restless Legs Syndrome: Results from a Multi-Center, Randomized, Active Controlled Trial**", *Trenkwalker C, Benes H, Grote L et al*, *Movement Disorders* Vol w22, No. 5, 2007, 696-703
88. Dated 2007, "**Pathological Gambling in Parkinson's Disease: Risk factors and Differences from/dopamine Dysregulation. An Analysis of Published Case Series**", *Gallagher, D A, O'Sullivan, S S, Evans, A H et al*, *Movement Disorders*, Vol 22, No. 12
89. Dated 2007, "**Management of Impulse Control Disorders in Parkinson's Disease**", *Galpern, W R, Stacy, M*, *Movement Disorders*
90. Dated 2007, "**The relationship between impulsivity and impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease**", *Isaias, I U, Siri, C, Cilia, R et al*, Research Article, *Parkinson Institute, Milan, Italy*
91. Dated 23 January 2007, "**Pathologic Gambling in patients with restless legs syndrome treated with dopaminergic agonists**", *Tippmann-Pieker, M, Park, J G, Boeve, B F et al*, *Neurology* 68
92. Dated 2 February 2007, "**Factors associated with Dopaminergic drug- related pathological gambling in Parkinson's disease**", *Valerie Voon*, *Archives of Neurology*.
93. Dated 29 March 2007, "**Withdrawal of Pergolide products**", *News-Medical.net*.
94. Dated 1 April 2007, "**FDA Announces Voluntary Withdrawal of Pergolide Products**", *Drug News , Source Bio-Bio Technology, Medindia.com*.

95. Dated 22 April 2007, "**US announcement of RLS drug withdrawal**", Restless Legs Syndrome ([www.rls.org.au](http://www.rls.org.au)).
96. Dated 8 June 2007, "**Impulse control disorder in Parkinson's disease**", *Cindy Zadikoff*.
97. Dated August 2007, "**Medication-Related Impulse Control and Repetitive Behaviors in Parkinson Disease**", *Voon, V, Fax, S H*, (Reprinted) Arch Neurology Vol 64 (No. 8), [www.archneurology.com](http://www.archneurology.com)
98. Dated September 2007, "**Pramipexole and Compulsive Masturbation**", *Randy A. Sansone & Mark Ferlan*.
99. Dated 8 December 2007, "**Pathological gambling associated with dopamine agonist use in restless legs syndrome**", *Jeremy Quickfall & Oksana Suchowersky*, Science Direct.
100. Dated 2008, "**Neuropsychiatric behaviours/compulsive behaviours in Parkinson's**", *Dr. Jennifer S. Hui*, The Los Angeles Marathon.
101. Dated 2008, "**Resolution of dopamine dysregulation syndrome following cessation of dopamine agonist therapy in Parkinson's disease**", *Kimber TE, Thompson PD, Kiley MA*, Journal of Clinical Neuroscience 15 (2008), 205-208
102. Dated 2008, "**Journal of Clinical Neuroscience**", (Editorial Board List), [www.elsevier.com](http://www.elsevier.com).
103. Dated 2008, "**Pergolide Mesylate**", Australian Prescriber.
104. Dated 2008, "**Introduction to Pituitary Conditions**", *Dr. Emma Duncan*, Australian Pituitary Foundation.
105. Dated 2008, "**Predictors of impulsivity and reward seeking behaviour with dopamine agonists**", *Ondo WG, Lai D*, Elsevier, Parkinsonism & Related Disorders, 14 (2008), 28-32
106. Dated 2008, "**Medications used to treat Parkinson's disease and the risk of gambling**", *Imamura, A, Geda, Y E, Slowinski, J et al*, European Journal of Neurology 15
107. Dated 2008, "**Long-Term Follow-Up of Impulse Control Disorders in Parkinson's Disease**", *Mamikonyan, E, Siderowf, A D, Duda, J E et al*, Movement Disorders, Vol 23 No. 1



108. Dated 2008, "**Decision Making in Parkinson's Disease: Analysis of Behavioral and Physiological Patterns in the Iowa Gambling Task**", *Kobayakawa, M, Koyama, S, Mimura, M, Kawamura, M*, Movement Disorders Vol 23, No. 4
109. Dated January-February 2008, "**Conversion From Dopamine Agonists to Cabergoline: An Open-Label Trial in 128 Patients With Advanced Parkinson Disease**", Clinical Neuropharmacology, Vol 31, No. 1 January-February 2008, 19-24
110. Dated 10 October 2008, "**Synopsis of Boehringer Ingelheim - Mirapex**", *Anthony Lang & Daniel Weintraub*, Boehringer Ingelheim.
111. Dated 2009, "**Association between the dose of dopaminergic medication and the behavioral disturbances in Parkinson's disease**", *Jee-Young Lee*, www.elsevier.com.
112. Dated 2009, "**Impulsive and Compulsive Behaviors in Parkinson's Disease**", *Evans, AH, Strafella AP, Weintraub D, Stacy M*, Movement Disorders, Vol. 24, No. 11; 1561-1570
113. Dated 2009, "**Dopamine dysregulation syndrome in a patient with restless legs syndrome**", *Leu-Semenescu S, Karroum E, Brion A, Konofal E, Arnulf I*, Elsevier, Sleep Medicine 10 (2009) 494-496
114. Dated 2010, "**Dominion study drills down on impulse control disorders in Parkinson's disease**", *Susan Jeffrey*, Medscape Education.
115. Dated 2010, "**Excessive Hoarding in Parkinson's Disease**", *O'Sullivan, SS, Djamshidian A, Evans AH et al*, Movement Disorders, Vol 25, No. 8, 2010, 1026-1033
116. Dated May 2010, "**Impulse Control Disorders in Parkinson Disease: a Cross-Sectional Study of 3090 Patients**", *Weintraub D, Koester J, Potenza MN et al*, Arch Neurology Vol 67 (No. 5) May 2010, 589-595
117. Dated 7 May 2010, "**Drug-Induced Impulse Control Disorders: A Prospectus for Neuroethical Analysis**", *Carter A, Ambermoon, P & Hall W D*, Springer (published online)
118. Dated May-June 2010, "**Impact of Dopamine Agonists on Compulsive Behaviors: A Case Series of Pramipexole-Induced Pathological Gambling**", *Kolla BP, Mansukhain, MP, Barraza R, Bostwick JM*, Psychosomatics 51:3, May-June 2010, 271-273

